IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

RICKY BRADLEY,	
Petitioner,	
v.	S. Ct. Case No.
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Respondent.	/

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

JAMES S. PURDY PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

REBECCA M. BECKER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0259918 444 SEABREEZE BLVD. # 210 DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32118 (386) 252-3367

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner was charged by information with one count of attempted felony murder and one count of robbery with a firearm. The information alleged that in the course of committing the robbery, petitioner "was in possession of and carried a firearm" and cited Section 775.087 (2), Florida Statutes (2002). Petitioner subsequently entered a plea of no contest to the offenses pursuant to a plea agreement calling for a sentence of twenty years in prison with a twenty year minimum mandatory term resulting from the discharge of a firearm during the robbery. At the time of entering his plea, petitioner's counsel stated:

the agreement is pursuant to the 10/20/life bill he is still exposed, because the firearm was discharged, to twenty years mandatory. He will be sentenced to twenty years in the state prison with the expectations [sic] he will have to serve twenty years day for day with credit for time served. I've explained to him the only way he'll get out in less than twenty years is if somehow the laws change and it applies to it. But as it stands now [,] he's got to do twenty years.

Petitioner was then sentenced to the mandatory twenty years under the 10/20/life statutes. No direct appeal was taken from the judgment and sentence but subsequently petitioner filed a motion to correct the sentence arguing that the twenty year minimum mandatory was illegal because the information filed by the State alleged the possession of a firearm, and not a discharge of a firearm. The

Appeal. The Fifth District affirmed the denial of relief finding that the plea colloquy supplied the missing allegations of discharge and constituted an implicit amendment to the information. In doing so, the Fifth District acknowledged that on identical facts the Fourth District reached the opposite conclusion on *Jackson v*. *State*, 852 So. 2d 941 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003) review denied 869 So. 2d 540 (Fla. 2004). The Fifth District certified express and direct conflict with *Jackson*. *Bradley v. State*, 33 Fla. L. Weekly D76 (Fla. 5th DCA, December 28, 2007).

Petitioner filed a timely notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction on January 25, 2008.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court has jurisdiction to review the decision of the Fifth District below wherein the Court on identical facts certified direct and express conflict with the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN BRADLEY v. STATE, 33 FLA. L. WEEKLY D 76 (FLA. 5TH DCA DECEMBER 28, 2007) IS IN DIRECT AND EXPRESS CONFLICT WITH THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN JACKSON v. STATE, 852 So. 2d 941 (FLA. 4TH DCA 2003) REVIEWED DENIED 869 So.2d 540 (FLA. 2004) SO AS TO ALLOW THIS COURT TO EXERCISE ITS DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION.

Section 775.087 (2), Florida Statutes (2002), the "10/20/life" statute, provides for the enhancement of the crime where a firearm is possessed or used during the commission of certain enumerated crimes. In order to reclassify a crime under the 10/20/life statute, the grounds for enhancement must be charged in the information. *Koch v. State*, 874 So.2d 606 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004); *Rogers v. State*, 963 So.2d 328 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2007); *Gibbs v. State*, 623 So. 2d 551 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993).

In *Jackson v. State*, 852 So. 2d 941 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003) review denied 869 So. 2d 540 (Fla. 2004) the defendant pled to the offense of robbery with a deadly weapon. The information charging this offense alleged only that in the course of committing the robbery Jackson carried a firearm. However, during the plea colloquy it was discussed that the charge would carry a twenty five to life mandatory minimum because the firearm was discharged resulting in great bodily

harm to the victim. This information was included in the written plea petition which listed a minimum mandatory twenty-five to life. Jackson was sentenced to life with the minimum mandatory sentence of twenty-five years. During direct appeal, counsel filed a motion to correct the sentencing arguing that the twentyfive year mandatory was illegal because the information failed to allege that Jackson has discharged the firearm. The motion to correct was denied and on appeal the Fourth District Court of Appeal granted relief. The Fourth District noted that the information only charged that Jackson carried a firearm not discharged a firearm. Consequently the Court held that appellant could only be convicted of the offense with which he was charged. In so ruling, the Court rejected the State's argument that Jackson had waived any challenge to the sentence by way of his no contest plea. The fact that Jackson and his counsel were under the mistaken belief that he was pleading to an offense that carried a twenty- five year mandatory minimum did not transform the illegality of that sentence where only a ten year mandatory minimum had been pled in the information. Although the Court noted the State could have moved to amend the information to supply the missing elements it did not do so. The Fourth District went on to certify conflict with the Second District Court of Appeal in *Brlecic v. State*, 456 So.2d 503 (Fla.

2nd DCA 1984). However, this Court refused to accept jurisdiction. 869 So. 2d 540 (Fla. 2004)

In the instant case, petitioner was charged with committing a robbery with a firearm under an information that alleged that in the course of committing the robbery, petitioner "was in possession of and carried a firearm." The information never charged that petitioner discharged the firearm. During the plea colloquy, petitioner's trial counsel stated that the plea was to the offense as charged with the recognition that the twenty year mandatory minimum for discharging a firearm would apply. The trial court accepted the plea and imposed the mandatory minimum twenty year sentence. Subsequently, petitioner filed a motion to correct the sentence arguing that on the authority of *Jackson supra*, the sentence was illegal since the information failed to allege that he had discharged a firearm. The trial court denied relief and on appeal the Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed. Noting that the decision in *Jackson* was identical to the situation before them the Court nevertheless denied relief believing the decision in *Jackson* placed form over substance. In so ruling, the Fifth District approved the practice of "implicitly amending" an information by supplying missing elements during a plea colloquy. Such practice should not be condoned. Only the State has the right to file charges either through the grand jury process or by direct file. Defense counsel should not be placed in the position of "perfecting" the charges against his client. It is not a novel law to require the State to properly charge a criminal defendant. An illegal sentence should not be transformed implicitly to a legal sentence by statements made by a defense counsel. The decision by the Fifth District is in direct conflict with the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal the decision cannot be reconciled. This Court has jurisdiction to accept the case resolve the conflict and quash the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reasons and authorities cited herein, petitioner respectfully requests this Honorable Court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction and accept the instant case for review to resolve the conflict between the Districts.