# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RICKY BRADLEY,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. SC08-196

Fifth DCA Case No. 5D06-3577

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

\_\_\_\_/

## JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARY G. JOLLEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar No. 0080454

KELLIE A. NIELAN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar No. 618550

444 Seabreeze Boulevard Fifth Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (386) 238-4990 (386) 238-4997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The relevant facts are set forth in the opinion of the district court below:

Relevant to this appeal, Mr. Bradley was charged by information with robbery with a firearm in violation of sections 812.13(1) and (2)(a), Florida Statutes (2002). The information included an allegation that in the course of committing the robbery, Mr. Bradley "was in possession of and carried a firearm," and cited section 775.087(2), Florida Statutes (2002). Mr. Bradley subsequently entered a plea of nolo contendere to robbery with a firearm pursuant to a plea agreement calling for a sentence of twenty years in prison with a twenty-year minimum mandatory term resulting from his discharge of a firearm during the robbery. Although no direct appeal was taken, Mr. Bradley then filed a motion to correct sentence pursuant to rule 3.800(b)(2). In his motion, Mr. Bradley argued that his twenty-year minimum mandatory sentence was illegal because the information filed by the State alleged the possession of a firearm, and not the discharge of a firearm. Relying on Hope v. State, 588 So.2d 255 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), the trial court denied the motion. This appeal followed.

At the time that Mr. Bradley entered his plea, his counsel advised the court:

Your Honor, at this time[,] pursuant to negotiations with the [S]tate of Florida[,] Mr. Bradley is going to withdraw his not guilty pleas as to attempted felony\*959 murder and armed robbery with a firearm. He's going to be pleading no contest to each count of the information. There's going to be a stipulation that the injuries to the victim ... were moderate. What this does is take it out of the 25[-]year mandatory sentencing under the 10/20/life bill. Which if they were deemed to be severe injuries[,] it would be a mandatory 25.

The agreement is pursuant to the 10/20/life bill he is still exposed, because the firearm was discharged, to 20 years mandatory. He will

be sentenced to 20 years in the state prison with the expectations [sic] he will have to serve 20 years day for day with credit for time served. I've explained to him the only way he'll get out in less than 20 years is if some how the laws change and it applies to it. But as it stands now[,] he's got to do 20 years.

The State agreed that the plea agreement was as represented and Mr. Bradley then entered his plea, stipulating to the facts alleged in the complaint affidavit (which stated that he had discharged a firearm during the commission of the robbery).

<u>Bradley v. State</u>, 971 So.2d 957, 958-959 (Fla. 5th DCA 2007)(footnote omitted).

# SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should not accept jurisdiction in this case because the decision below does not expressly and directly conflict with <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 852 So.2d 941 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003), <u>rev. denied</u>, 869 So.2d 540 (Fla. 2004). <u>Jackson</u> contains different facts than those presented here, and those distinct facts resulted in a legal conclusion that differed from that made in the instant case.

#### ARGUMENT

# THIS COURT SHOULD NOT ACCEPT JURISDICTION IN THIS CASE.

This Court has jurisdiction under article V, section (3)(b)(3) when a district court decision "expressly and directly conflicts" with a decision of this Court or another district court. This Court has repeatedly held that such conflict must be express and direct, that is, "it must appear within the four corners of the majority decision." <u>Reaves v. State</u>, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986). Likewise, this Court has jurisdiction under article V, section (3)(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution where a decision of a district court is certified by "it to be in direct conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal."

In the decision below, the district court of appeal certified conflict with the Fourth District Court of Appeal in <u>Jackson v.</u> State, 852 So.2d 941 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003), <u>rev. denied</u>, 869 So.2d 540 (Fla. 2004). However, <u>Jackson</u> contains different facts than those presented here, and those facts are what triggered the legal conclusion made in that case. Notwithstanding the fact that the district court below certified a conflict, the State submits that this Court should not accept jurisdiction in this case.

Both this case and <u>Jackson</u> address the applicability of a twenty-year minimum mandatory sentence required when a firearm is discharged during the commission of an enumerated felony when the

4

discharge of the firearm is not alleged in the charging document. In the instant case, the district court of appeal found that although the charging document did not allege that Bradley discharged a firearm in the robbery with a firearm charge, he was still subject to a twenty-year sentence under the 10/20/Life sentencing scheme pursuant to a plea agreement which called for the Bradley, 971 So.2d at 960-961. twenty-year sentence. Bradley stipulated to the factual basis for his plea, which included the fact that he had discharged the firearm during the commission of the robbery. Also, the record plainly showed that Bradley was well-aware that he was subject to the enhanced twenty-year sentence when he entered his plea. Id. at 959-960. Thus, even though the charging document did not allege that the weapon was discharged, the district court of appeal determined that Bradley could still be sentenced to the twenty-year minimum mandatory based upon the totality of the facts. See id.

No such facts existed in <u>Jackson</u>. In <u>Jackson</u>, there was neither a stipulation during to the plea colloquy to the fact that the firearm at issue was discharged nor was there any discussion on the record regarding the applicability of the twenty-year minimum mandatory sentence for discharge of the firearm. <u>See Jackson</u>, 852 So.2d at 943-945. In fact, during the plea colloquy, the parties were under the mistaken assumption that Jackson was subject to a twenty-five year minimum mandatory term. Id. at 943. Thus, the

5

Fourth District Court of Appeal concluded that a twenty-year sentence was illegal since the discharge of firearm was not alleged in the information.

Given that the decision below contains distinguishable facts from those presented in <u>Jackson</u>, this Court should not exercise its discretionary jurisdiction and grant review in the instant case based upon either an express and direct conflict or based upon the conflict certified by the district court of appeal below.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument and authority, the State respectfully requests that this Court decline to accept jurisdiction in this case.